DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 476 559 EC 309 593

AUTHOR Sopko, Kim Moherek

TITLE The IEP: A Synthesis of Current Literature since 1997.

INSTITUTION National Association of State Directors of Special Education,

Alexandria, VA.

SPONS AGENCY Special Education Programs (ED/OSERS), Washington, DC.

PUB DATE 2003-02-00

NOTE 41p.; Prepared for Project FORUM.

CONTRACT H326F000001

AVAILABLE FROM National Association of State Directors of Special Education,

Project Forum, 1800 Diagonal Rd., Suite 320, Alexandria, VA

22314. Tel: 703-519-3800; Fax: 703-519-3808; e-mail:

carla@nasdse.org; Web site: http://www.nasdse.org/ forum.htm.

PUB TYPE Information Analyses (070)

EDRS PRICE EDRS Price MF01/PC02 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS Academic Accommodations (Disabilities); Accessibility (for

Disabled); Accountability; Compliance (Legal); *Disabilities; Educational Assessment; *Educational Legislation; Elementary Secondary Education; Federal Legislation; *Individualized Education Programs; Parent Participation; Professional Development; Teacher Attitudes; Transitional Programs

ABSTRACT

This document is a synthesis of literature from 1997-2002 on the individualized education program (IEP), a core component of federal and state laws on the education of students with disabilities. The first section identifies the significant changes related to the IEP in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1997. The following sections address parent involvement; assessment/accountability and accommodations (including perceptions and decision making on use of accommodations and specific accommodations); access to the general curriculum; teacher satisfaction; professional development; post-secondary transition; and special considerations such as behavior, limited English proficiency, visual and hearing impairments, and assistive technology. The paper concludes with a list of 10 related areas in which further research is recommended. (Contains approximately 200 references.) (DB)



The IEP: A Synthesis of Current Literature Since 1997



February 2003

by

Kim Moherek Sopko, Ed.D.

Visiting Assistant Professor

Old Dominion University

Norfolk, Virginia

Prepared for:

Project FORUM National Association of State Directors of Special Education www.nasdse.org U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION Office of Educational Research and Improvement EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality.



Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official OERI position or policy.

The IEP: A Synthesis of Current Literature Since 1997

by

Kim Moherek Sopko, Ed.D. Visiting Assistant Professor Old Dominion University Norfolk, Virginia

February 2003



Prepared for:

Project FORUM
National Association of State Directors of Special Education (NASDSE)
1800 Diagonal Road - Suite 320
Alexandria, VA 22314

Year 1 Deliverable 1-3B Under Cooperative Agreement # H326F000001 Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) U.S. Department of Education



Project FORUM at National Association of State Directors of Special Education (NASDSE) is a cooperative agreement funded by the Office of Special Education Programs of the U.S. Department of Education. The project carries out a variety of activities that provide information needed for program improvement, and promote the utilization of research data and other information for improving outcomes for students with disabilities. The project also provides technical assistance and information on emerging issues, and convenes small work groups to gather expert input, obtain feedback and develop conceptual frameworks related to critical topics in special education.

Although the U.S. Department of Education has reviewed this document for consistency with the IDEA, the contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the U.S. Department of Education. The U.S. Department of Education has not reviewed most of the sources and websites cited in this article, so it does not provide any assurances regarding their consistency with the IDEA. In addition, the cited sources and websites do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the U.S. Department of Education, nor does mention of other organizations imply endorsements by those organizations or the U.S. Government.



Note: There are no copyright restrictions on this document; however, please credit the source and support of federal funds when copyring all or part of this material.

This document, along with many other FÖRUM publications, can be downloaded from the Project FORUM at NASDSE web address:

http://www.nasdse.org/forum.htm

To order a hard copy of this document or any other FORUM publications, please contact Carla Burgman at NASDSE, 1800 Diagonal Road, Suite 320, Alexandria, VA 22314
Ph: 703-519-3800 ext. 312 or Email: carla@nasdse.org

BEST COPY AVAILABLE



Acknowledgements

The author and Project FORUM would like to acknowledge the initial literature review conducted for this document by Deirdre M. Lavery.

Project FORUM extends its sincere appreciation to the individuals listed below who constituted a Quality Review Panel for this document. This panel reviewed and commented on an earlier draft of this document, and their efforts have served to enrich the quality and accuracy of the information. Acknowledgement of their involvement does not necessarily indicate their endorsement of this final document.

Dee Braley
Executive Director
Office of Special Education
West Virginia Department of Education

Victor Nolet Associate Professor Western Washington University

Ed O'Leary Program Specialist Mountain Plains Regional Resource Center Logan, Utah

Judy Schrag Consultant Education and Human Services Group Port Orchard, Washington



Table of Contents

Introduction	1
The Individualized Education Program	1
Parent Involvement	4
Assessment/Accountability and Accommodations	6
Perceptions And Decision Making On Use Of Accommodations	8
Specific Accommodations	9
Access to the General Curriculum	10
Teacher Satisfaction	12
Professional Development	13
Post-Secondary Transition	14
Special Considerations	15
Behavior	16
Limited English Proficiency	17
Visual and Hearing Impairments	17
Assistive Technology	17
Summary	18
Suggestions for Future Research	19
References	20



The IEP: A Synthesis of Current Literature Since 1997

Introduction

This document is a synthesis of literature from 1997-2002 on the individualized education program (IEP), a core component of federal and state laws on the education of students with disabilities. The document provides an update of available literature since the National Association of State Directors of Special Education (NASDSE) publication, *The IEP: Benefits, Challenges, and Future Directions*, authored by Judy Schrag in 1996. Traditional search strategies were used to acquire reference materials from professional books, journals and the popular press. The Internet also was searched for additional published and unpublished literature including, but not limited to, government agency publications and educational association newsletters, articles, briefs and informational pages.

In 1975, Congress passed Public Law 94-142, the Education of the Handicapped Act (EHA), to ensure that eligible children with disabilities receive a free appropriate public education designed to meet their educational needs. The IEP, required for each eligible child, serves as a legal document that describes the plan for providing educational services to that child based on his or her needs. This requirement is the backbone of the law. The EHA has been amended several times, with the most recent reauthorization in 1997. The law is currently known as P.L. 105-17, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). Significant modifications were made to IDEA in 1997 to enhance opportunities for children with disabilities while ensuring a free and appropriate public education.

The reauthorization of IDEA was passed by Congress and ultimately signed into law by the President on June 4, 1997. The final regulations were released on Friday, March 12, 1999, almost two years after the bill was signed into law. Since that time, a variety of IEP guides and handbooks have been published; however, there is a paucity of empirical research on the IEP. The available literature focuses on the implementation process rather than the extent of implementation and its impact on students. This synthesis will identify the significant changes related to the IEP and discuss literature addressing these areas: parent involvement; assessment/accountability and accommodations; access to the general curriculum; transition; and special considerations, including behavior. Significant changes in the law and available literature relevant to each area are discussed in each subsection.

The Individualized Education Program

The IEP is a document of vital importance for students with disabilities. The 1997 reauthorization of IDEA emphasized its importance by moving all provisions related to the IEP to one place in the law, Section 614(d), rather than leaving them scattered throughout different areas. The 1997 law retained specific components of the IEP—statements regarding the student's present level of educational performance, annual goals, special education and related services to be provided, projected dates for beginning and end of services, and transition services—but required greater emphasis on access to the general curriculum and participation in the general education classroom. There was a specific intent to strengthen the connections between special

education and general education curricula and to involve parents in the planning for, and development of, the IEP. The reauthorized IDEA requires:

- (i) a statement of the child's present levels of educational performance including --
 - (I) how the child's disability affects the child's involvement and progress in the general curriculum; or
 - (II) for preschool children, as appropriate, how the disability affects the child's participation in appropriate activities; [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)].

The statement of goals and services must also include information specific to access to, and participation in, the general curriculum. As stated in the law, the IEP must include:

- (ii) a statement of measurable annual goals, including benchmarks or short-term objectives related to --
 - (I) meeting the child's needs that result from the child's disability to enable the child to be involved in and progress in the general curriculum; and
 - (II) meeting each of the child's other educational needs that result from the child's disability;
- (iii) a statement of the special education and related services and supplementary aids and services to be provided to the child, or on behalf of the child, and a statement of the program modifications or supports for school personnel that will be provided for the child --
 - (I) to advance appropriately toward attaining the annual goals;
 - (II) to be involved and progress in the general curriculum in accordance with clause (i) and to participate in extracurricular and other nonacademic activities; and
 - (III) to be educated and participate with other children with disabilities and nondisabled children in the activities described in this paragraph; [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)].

The reauthorized law seeks to include students with disabilities in state and district assessments and requires that the IEP include:

- (I) a statement of any individual modifications in the administration of State or districtwide assessments of student achievement that are needed in order for the child to participate in such an assessment; and
- (II) if the IEP Team determines that the child will not participate in a particular State or districtwide assessment of student achievement (or part of such an assessment), a statement of --
 - (aa) why that assessment is not appropriate for the child; and (bb) how the child will be assessed;
 - [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(v)].



Another significant change is the requirement for IEP Teams to discuss and consider several special factors. As stated in the law:

CONSIDERATIONS OF SPECIAL FACTORS- The IEP Team shall --

- (i) in the case of a child whose behavior impedes his or her learning or that of others, consider, when appropriate, strategies, including positive behavioral interventions, strategies, and supports to address that behavior; (ii) in the case of a child with limited English proficiency, consider the language needs of the child as such needs relate to the child's IEP;
- (iii) in the case of a child who is blind or visually impaired, provide for instruction in Braille and the use of Braille unless the IEP Team determines, after an evaluation of the child's reading and writing skills, needs, and appropriate reading and writing media (including an evaluation of the child's future needs for instruction in Braille or the use of Braille), that instruction in Braille or the use of Braille is not appropriate for the child;
- (iv) consider the communication needs of the child, and in the case of a child who is deaf or hard of hearing, consider the child's language and communication needs, opportunities for direct communications with peers and professional personnel in the child's language and communication mode, academic level, and full range of needs, including opportunities for direct instruction in the child's language and communication mode; and (v) consider whether the child requires assistive technology devices and services. [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(3)(B)].

In the past two decades, research has shown that IEPs often lacked all mandated components, focused on non-functional skills, contained little information on how goals will be generalized and applied to real life skills, and sometimes included goals that did not address a child's area of identified delay (Pretti-Fontczak & Bricker, 2000). The IEP meeting was often viewed as a "meaningless ritual in which teachers dictate the prescribed education curriculum and then pass the ceremonial pen to parents to secure their signatures" (Rock, 2000, p. 32). The reauthorized IDEA intended to change these practices by specifying that the IEP should be a "dynamic planning document that clearly shows how to develop a specially designed program for each child with a disability that can be reviewed and revised to promote regular curriculum participation" (Burns, 2001, p. viii).

As required by law, the IEP is to be developed by a team that includes the parents of the child with a disability; at least one regular education teacher if the child is, or may be, participating in the regular education environment; at least one of the child's special education teachers or providers; a representative of the local educational agency who is qualified to provide, or supervise the provision of, special education, and is knowledgeable about the general curriculum and available resources of the local educational agency; an individual who can interpret instructional implications of evaluation results; other individuals with knowledge or expertise regarding the child with a disability, including related service personnel; and the child with a disability, as appropriate [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(B)].

Through the team meeting process, the IEP document is developed or revised to ensure that the student with a disability receives a free appropriate public education alongside his or her peers to

the maximum extent possible. The IEP meeting provides opportunity for the student, his or her parents and a variety of professionals to discuss, plan, evaluate and review the individual student's strengths, needs and education intervention strategies. An IEP meeting can be held at any point in time since the IEP is a fluid document that must be adjusted according to a student's needs. Individuals bring different perspectives to the IEP meeting (Altmueller, 2001), but all have important information to contribute, especially the student. Research showed that students are better able to contribute if they receive training on active participation and goal development prior to their IEP meeting (Snyder, 2000). In addition, some teachers believe that they and their students should receive training to facilitate student participation during IEP meetings and that the IDEA should clearly define participation of students, as well as define teachers' roles in facilitating student participation (Piastro, 2000).

Parent Involvement

Prior to 1997, research indicated that parents often felt uninvolved in IEP development and viewed the teachers as educational decision makers and themselves as consent givers (Rock, 2000). Parents struggled with issues such as time to attend meetings, transportation to meetings, child-care during meetings, language barriers and cultural insensitivity. A significant change in the reauthorized law is that parents are to be included in all components of educational planning for their child—assessment prior to IEP development and planning; and developing, implementing, evaluating and reviewing the IEP. The reauthorized law supports the viewpoint that parents are equal partners in the educational process and must be involved. In conducting the evaluation, the local educational agency shall include information provided by the parent [20 U.S.C. §1414(b)(2)(A)], and parents must also be included in the decision-making process for eligibility [20 U.S.C. §1414(b)(4)(A)] and educational placement [20 U.S.C. §1414(f)].

Recent survey data obtained through the Special Education Elementary Longitudinal Study (SEELS), funded by the U.S. Department of Education's Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) and reported in the 23rd Annual Report to Congress (U.S. Department of Education, 2001), showed that a high percentage of parents agreed that their child's IEP goals were appropriate and challenging in accordance with access to the general curriculum (91 percent); believed their child's special education services were "somewhat" (48 percent) or "very" individualized (45 percent); and felt they had the "right amount" of involvement in IEP decision making (66 percent) (U.S. Department of Education, 2001). In a different study of an urban southwest school district, 24 parents of students with disabilities were interviewed about their satisfaction with IEP meetings. These parents were satisfied with professional etiquette and procedures during meetings and reported that effective communication led to greater satisfaction. However, parents were not always satisfied with the disability category assigned to their children. Parents of students with physical or health impairments were generally least satisfied and lack of proper personnel at IEP meetings led to dissatisfaction with the disability category assignment (Miles-Bonart, 2001).

Another national study, the Study of State and Local Implementation and Impact of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (SLIIDEA), determined through survey data that 27 states regularly evaluate parent satisfaction with special education services and 14 states report the results by district (Schiller et al., 2001). This same survey showed that 50 states offer



workshops on IDEA regulations as they pertain to parent involvement, 47 states offer workshops on ways to involve parents in the IEP process and 16 states provide funds for transportation and child care to encourage parent participation in IEP meetings. These data suggest that states are investing time, energy and funding to increase parent involvement. Additional research that examines family experiences and satisfaction is currently being conducted through the National Early Intervention Longitudinal Study (NEILS) and the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS-2).

There is a variety of literature that describes the benefits of parent involvement, offers strategies to facilitate meaningful participation of parents in IEP meetings, and identifies barriers to parent participation. Through involvement in meetings and educational services, parents increase their knowledge about the child's educational setting, teachers acquire information about the child's home environment, parents and teachers improve communication and the student is more likely to achieve the goals developed collaboratively by the parents and teachers (Smith, 2001; Zhang & Bennet, 2001). Available IEP guides and articles suggest strategies to improve and increase meaningful parent participation in IEP meetings (Bennett et al., 1998; Burns, 2001; Clark, 2000; Conderman & Nelson, 1999; Duncan, 1997; FAPE, 2001; Fielding, 1998; Fouse, 1999; Frey, 1998; Lytle & Bordin, 2001; Muhlenhaupt, 2002; National Organization of Parents of Blind Children, 1998; Pretti-Fontczak & Bricker, 2000; Quiroz, Greenfield, & Alchech, 1999; Rock, 2000; Smith, 2001; Tracy & Maroney, 2000; Zhang & Bennett, 2001; Zullo, Gibson, & Fister, 1997).

Guidebooks recommend that teachers develop relationships, communicate regularly and build trust with the parents (Lytle & Bordin, 2001; Rock, 2000). During an IEP meeting, it is important to:

- greet the parents;
- introduce all IEP meeting participants and explain their roles;
- state the purpose of the meeting;
- share strengths and positive observations about the child;
- emphasize the helpful information parents share about their child;
- provide enough time for a complete discussion during the meeting; and
- be flexible throughout the meeting (Kroeger, Leibold, & Ryan, 1999; Lytle & Bordin, 2001; Rock, 2000; Smith, 2001).

One strategy to strengthen participation by all IEP Team members discussed by Kroeger and colleagues (1999) was using a chalkboard as a tool to facilitate discussion, prioritize learning needs and engage in collaborative problem solving. Identified barriers to participation include: the use of educational jargon and acronyms; parents' lack of understanding of the school system; parents' uncertainty about how to help their child; parents' feelings of inferiority; and logistical problems, such as time for, and transportation to, IEP meetings (Rock, 2000; Smith, 2001). They concluded that parents and professionals must work together collaboratively and respect, trust and equally value each other to benefit the child as the IEP is developed and effective interventions are designed.

In regard to cultural diversity and the IEP, SEELS data included in the 23rd Annual Report to Congress (U.S. Department of Education, 2001) indicated that African-American, Hispanic, and Asian and Pacific Islander families, and families with low income were more commonly dissatisfied with their level of participation in the IEP development process than other racial/ethnic or economic groups. While there are a variety of informational guides to address issues of cultural diversity and family differences (Bennett et al., 1998; Fletcher-Carter & Paez, 1997; Quiroz et al., 1999; Zhang & Bennett, 2001), there was no current research regarding the effects of cultural diversity on the IEP process and IEP implementation.

Assessment/Accountability and Accommodations

There has been increasing demand for accountability in the field of education over the last decade, with increased focus on student progress as measured by standardized assessments. The reauthorized IDEA requires that an IEP include statements related to assessment and accommodations. As stated in the reauthorized IDEA, the IEP must include:

(I) a statement of any individual modifications in the administration of State or districtwide assessments of student achievement that are needed in order for the child to participate in such an assessment; and (II) if the IEP Team determines that the child will not participate in a particular State or districtwide assessment of student achievement (or part of such an assessment), a statement of --

(aa) why that assessment is not appropriate for the child; and (bb) how the child will be assessed; [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(v)].

In addition, the IEP must include a statement about how the parents will be informed of their child's progress at least as often as parents of a child without disabilities are informed of educational progress [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(viii)(II)].

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB) reauthorized the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA), including Title I, and was signed into law by President Bush in January 2002. NCLB puts increased emphasis on accountability, including students with disabilities. Research specific to implementation of NCLB is not yet available, but in regard to accountability, the law states:

- (A) IN GENERAL-Each State plan shall demonstrate that the State has developed and is implementing a single, statewide State accountability system that will be effective in ensuring that all local educational agencies, public elementary schools, and public secondary schools make adequate yearly progress as defined under this paragraph....
- (B) ADEQUATE YEARLY PROGRESS- Each State plan shall demonstrate, based on academic assessments described in paragraph (3), and in accordance with this paragraph, what constitutes adequate yearly progress of the State, and of all public elementary schools, secondary schools, and local educational agencies in the State, toward enabling all public elementary school and secondary school students to meet the State's student



academic achievement standards, while working toward the goal of narrowing the achievement gaps in the State, local educational agencies, and schools.

- (C) DEFINITION-Adequate yearly progress shall be defined by the State in a manner that--...
 - (v) includes separate measurable annual objectives for continuous and substantial improvement for each of the following:
 - (I) The achievement of all public elementary school and secondary school students.
 - (II) The achievement of--... (cc) students with disabilities; and

In regard to academic assessments, NCLB states:

(A) IN GENERAL-Each State plan shall demonstrate that the State educational agency, in consultation with local educational agencies, has implemented a set of high-quality, yearly student academic assessments....

[P.L.107-110, Sec. 1111(b)(2)].

- (B) USE OF ASSESSMENTS- Each State educational agency may incorporate the data from the assessments under this paragraph into a State-developed longitudinal data system that links student test scores, length of enrollment, and graduation records over time.
- (C) REQUIREMENTS-Such assessment shall--
 - (i) be the same academic assessments used to measure the achievement of all children:...
 - (ix) provide for --
 - (I) the participation in such assessment of all students;
 - (II) the reasonable adaptations and accommodations for students with disabilities (as defined under section 602(3) of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act) necessary to measure the academic achievement of such students relative to State academic content and State student academic achievement standards; and [P.L.107-110, Sec. 1111(b)(3)].

In a review of IEP forms from 41 states, Thompson, Thurlow, Quenemon, Esler, and Whetsone (2001) found that 30 states had some indication on the form of three or more options for participation in assessments, including standard participation in state and district assessments, participation with accommodations or participation with an alternate assessment. Eight states documented participation in assessments, but did not identify an alternate assessment option.

The IEP Team is required to select appropriate accommodations for a student with disabilities to allow the student to participate effectively in state and districtwide assessments. A number of authors indicate that there is limited empirical research available to provide a clear understanding of the effects or consequences of testing accommodations (Fuchs, Fuchs, Eaton, Hamlett, & Karns, 2000; Thurlow, 2002; Thurlow & Bolt, 2001; Thurlow, McGrew, Tindal, Thompson, Ysseldyke, & Elliot, 2000; Tindal & Fuchs, 1999; Tindal, Heath, Hollenbeck, Almond, & Harniss, 1998).

In a review and analysis of state policy on assessment accommodations, Thurlow, House, Boys, Scott, and Ysseldyke (2000) identified most frequently allowed accommodations by 48 states. Table 1 lists the specific accommodations and the number of states that allow the accommodation, allow the accommodation with limitations or prohibit it in some situations, or prohibit the accommodation.

Table 1
State Assessment Accommodations (N= 48)

Accommodation	Number of states that allow	Number of states that allow with limitations or prohibit in some situations	Number of states that prohibit
Braille	33	5 .	
Computer/Machine Response	28	6	
Dictate Response	32	11	
Extended Time	32	5	2
Interpreter for Instructions	34	2	1
Large Print Edition of Test	38	2	
Mark Answers in Test Booklet	28	5	
Read Aloud Test Items	4	30	1
Test Directions Clarifications	31	4	1
Test Breaks	28	5	+-

Note: This table was developed based on data reported by Thurlow, House, et al. (2000).

In September 2001, the National Center for Educational Outcomes (NCEO) created a searchable database of research on accommodations and plans to update the database quarterly. Thurlow & Bolt (2001) published a synthesis report of the research available on the database categorized by accommodations most often allowed by state policies—Braille editions, computer/machine response, dictate response to scribe, extended time, interpreter for instructions, large print edition, mark answers in test booklet, read aloud, test direction clarifications and test breaks. This synthesis provided an explanation of each accommodation, identified state use of each accommodation, summarized survey and empirical research, discussed controversy around the specific accommodation and offered recommendations. These authors, like others, emphasized that while some research exists, it does not provide conclusive results about the effects of specific accommodations.

Perceptions And Decision Making On Use Of Accommodations

There has been little research about the use of accommodations, and researchers report that teachers have different perceptions about accommodations and their use (Thurlow, 2002). In a 1998 survey with 166 regular and special educators as respondents, Hollenbeck, Tindal, & Almond (1998) showed variation in teachers' knowledge and use of different accommodations. Table 2 displays the percentage of respondents who had correct knowledge about an accommodation and the percentage of respondents who had used the accommodation.



Table 2
Correct Knowledge and Use of Accommodation (N=166)

Accommodation	Have correct knowledge about accommodation	Have used accommodation
Dictate response to scribe	85%	71%
Extended time	59%	13%
Read-aloud math text	56%	21%
Clarify directions	51%	16%
Test breaks	45%	18%

Note: This table was developed based on data reported by Hollenbeck, Tindal, & Almond 1998).

Some researchers investigated differences in recommended accommodations. Schulte, Elliott, & Kratchowill (2000) found that the level of severity of a student's disability did not result in a significant difference in the number of accommodations. These researchers also found more recommendations for complex and written assessment tasks than multiple-choice tasks. In contrast, a similar study of teachers of students with autism showed that these 133 teachers recommended that students with autism participate in assessments with necessary individually appropriate accommodations, but the percentage of teachers who recommended participation in assessments varied based on the severity of autism—the less severe the autism, the greater the recommended participation. Research showed that recommended accommodations increased the math and science test scores for more than 75 percent of the students with disabilities (Elliot, Kratchowill, & McKevitt, 2000). Research also showed that educators made different recommendations after receiving specific training about accommodations (DeStefano, Shriner, & Lloyd, 2001). After training, educators were likely to recommend more individually appropriate accommodations and use alternate assessments to measure other student goals for statewide assessments.

Specific Accommodations

Researchers are beginning to address some of the issues around assessment accommodations and how they impact accurate measurement of students' abilities. Much of the research on accommodations since the IDEA was reauthorized in 1997 focuses on a single accommodation or package of accommodations, rather than on individual student need (Elliot, 2000). Most students with disabilities receive more than one accommodation (Schulte et al., 2000). Extra time, assistance with directions and reading support are the most frequently used accommodations (Elliot et al., 2001). Researchers typically have not found a significant increase in test scores for students with disabilities who used the extended time accommodation or multiple-day test accommodation when compared to similar students who did not use accommodations, although students reportedly prefer extended time (Fuchs, Fuchs, Eaton, Hamlett, Binkley, & Crouch, 2000; Marquart, 2000; Walz, Albus, Thompson, & Thurlow, 2000).

A few studies suggest that dictation or videotape presentation of testing items resulted in higher student performance for students with disabilities (Calhoon, Fuchs, & Hamlett, 2000; Fuchs, Fuchs, Eaton, Hamlett, & Karns, 2000; Koretz, 1997; Tindal, Heath, et al., 1998; Tindal,

Glasgow, Helwig, Hollenbeck, & Heath, 1998; Westin, 1999), although there is concern that dictation or "read-aloud" as an accommodation alters the validity of the test and alters the construct being measured by the test (Bielinkski, Thurlow, Ysseldyke, Freidebach, & Freidebach, 2001; Meloy, Deville, & Frisbie, 2000). Researchers generally support the use of dictation or "read-aloud" accommodations for math assessments, but express concern about the validity of the test when these accommodations are used for reading assessments (Thurlow & Bolt, 2001). There are a variety of factors that could influence test scores, such as: inadvertent cues in the reader's voice when correct answers are read; availability of copies of test booklets for individual students; large group, small group or individual test administration; and allowance of repetition (Burns, 1998; Thurlow & Bolt, 2001).

Studies on computer or machine use for responses showed varying results. When comparing computer use and handwritten mode for a statewide writing test, there were no significant test score differences (Hollenbeck, Tindal, Harniss, & Almond, 1999), but the paper and pencil test format resulted in lower test scores if students were accustomed to completing their work using a computer (Russell, 1999; Russell & Plati, 2001). In addition, Russell (1999) found that middle school students scored lower on computer-based math assessments than on paper-pencil assessments and suggested that the lack of scratch paper for math problems may have resulted in the lower scores. Although there have been a limited number of empirical studies regarding accommodations, research trends suggest that using accommodations specific to individual student needs results in better performance on standardized assessments.

NCEO published a technical report in December 2000 emphasizing the need for effective research on accommodations and offering several recommendations for research (Thurlow, McGrew, et al., 2000). Particular areas of needed research identified in the report included the effects of accommodations on test validity, score comparability, usefulness of accommodations and the decision-making process relevant to accommodations. The report concluded with a strong recommendation for a planned and coordinated research agenda rather than isolated studies to answer the many questions about accommodations.

Access to the General Curriculum

The IDEA also strongly emphasizes participation of students with disabilities in the general curriculum and general education classroom. As noted on page 2 of this document, the law states that the IEP must address access to the general curriculum by including a statement of how the child's disability affects the child's involvement and progress in the general curriculum; a statement of measurable annual goals related to progress in the general curriculum; a statement of the special education and related services for the child; and a statement of supplementary aids, services, program modifications or supports for school personnel so that the child will be involved and make progress in the general curriculum and participate in extracurricular and other nonacademic activities [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(i-iii)]. In addition, the IEP must contain an explanation of the extent, if any, to which the child will not participate with nondisabled children in the regular class and activities [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(iv)].

To ensure access to general education and increased likelihood of success, the general educator must participate in the development of an IEP to ensure children with disabilities receive the



services they need in order to be involved in, and progress in, the general curriculum. The law specifically states that:

The regular education teacher of the child, as a member of the IEP Team, shall, to the extent appropriate, participate in the development of the IEP of the child, including the determination of appropriate positive behavioral interventions and strategies and the determination of supplementary aids and services, program modifications, and support for school personnel consistent with paragraph (1)(A)(iii). [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(3)(C)].

Additionally, the general educator must participate, to the extent appropriate, in the review and revision of the IEP [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(4)(B)]. Several authors provide informational guides to support general educators' participation in IEP development, with general information about responsibilities and collaborative practices (Burns, 2001; Clark, 2000; Houston-Wilson & Lieberman, 1999; Huefner, 2000; Lytle & Bordin, 2001; Menlove, Hudson, & Suter, 2001; OSEP, 1999d; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2000, Weishaar, 1997; Yun, Shapiro, & Kennedy, 2000).

Although no empirical research was found in the literature linking the IEP to the general curriculum, a few survey-based studies provided information about IEP forms, teacher satisfaction and training effects. In a review of IEP forms from 41 states, Thompson, Thurlow, Quenemoen and colleagues (2001) reported that 13 states addressed the general education curriculum in both the present level of performance and goal sections, 18 states addressed it in the present level of performance section or goal section and five states had no specific reference to the general curriculum on their IEP forms. An open-ended survey of 33 states revealed at least five policy and implementation issues related to IEP linkages with the general education curriculum (NASDSE, 1999a). Respondents indicated that the opportunity to develop a common vocabulary, greater collaboration between general and special education teachers and continuity between programs are benefits of this mandate in IDEA.

States are trying to connect IEP goals and objectives with state standards for the general curriculum and vary in their efforts. One state directly linked its online IEP forms with state standards so that IEP Teams could easily access state standards to include in the IEP development discussion (Thompson, Thurlow, Quenemoen, et al., 2001).

To support access to the general curriculum for students with disabilities and their participation in the regular educational environment, standards and assessments, a National Center on Accessing the General Curriculum (NCAC) was funded by OSEP in 1999. This center is currently investigating and making recommendations for policy and legal issues, curriculum design, teacher preparation and training and building consensus among stakeholders to use the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) framework to increase access to the general curriculum by students with disabilities. The UDL framework is a conceptual shift in curriculum that includes a range of options for accessing, using, and engaging with learning materials (Rose & Meyer, 2002) and providing multiple means for representation, engagement, and expression (Jackson, Harper, & Jackson, 2001). The conceptual shift is away from a "one size fits all" approach to "each learner needs his or her own size" (Hitchcock, Meyer, Rose, & Jackson, 2002) that enables



equivalent learning opportunities and increases access to the general curriculum for students with disabilities.

A recent literature review by NCAC identified barriers to accessing the general curriculum as:

- teacher lack of time, skills and training;
- different perceptions about curriculum adaptability;
- different interpretations of inclusion:
- increased educator responsibility;
- challenges in meeting every student's needs; and
- attitudes toward shifting roles and expectations (Jackson, Harper, et al., 2001).

These researchers offered recommendations to overcome these barriers that included:

- supporting teachers through professional development;
- restructuring educational systems;
- providing administrative support;
- ensuring equal opportunity and clear instructional goals;
- incorporating effective teaching practices;
- managing a self-directed learning environment;
- strengthening peer support structures;
- increasing parent involvement;
- enhancing collaboration among stakeholders; and
- using authentic assessments.

Other researchers from NCAC are investigating current teaching practices and intend to synthesize survey information regarding curricular accommodations, management decisions, assessment, instructional methodology and other pedagogical aspects that facilitate access to the general curriculum (Jackson, Koziol, & Rudowitz, 2001).

Teacher Satisfaction

Menlove and colleagues (2001) reported that when general education teachers meaningfully contribute to the IEP process, they are generally satisfied with the process. However, their 1999 survey of over 100 general education teachers indicated that elementary teachers have slightly higher rates of satisfaction with the IEP development process than high school teachers. These survey respondents also discussed reasons for not attending IEP meetings that included: not feeling valued as a team member; not having enough time to attend many meetings; not feeling prepared; not knowing what to expect in meetings; not feeling trained in the IEP process; and uncertainty about the relevance of the IEP to instruction and student learning.

Menlove and colleagues (2001) offered strategies to improve attendance and participation of general education teachers in IEP meetings that included:

• effectively collaborating and communicating regularly with general educators;



- hiring substitutes to provide release time;
- sharing blank IEP forms prior to IEP meetings;
- using an agenda to preview what will happen during the meeting;
- providing training specific to the IEP process; and
- providing training on the connection between IEPs and instruction.

Professional Development

Open-ended survey respondents indicated a need for professional development to ensure that general and special educators know about the mandate for access to the general curriculum, understand the connection between general curriculum standards and IEP goals and objectives, learn and use instructional strategies to improve student participation in the general curriculum and develop co-teaching and collaboration skills (NASDSE, 1999a). Research has shown that training teachers on writing IEP goals and using curriculum-based assessment and evaluation measures makes a significant difference in the quality of goals and objectives written for a student (Pretti-Fontczak & Bricker, 2000).

A variety of training efforts were reported by states and localities based on the specific needs of the educators and many states have guides for developing the IEP and ensuring access to the general curriculum (e.g., Duncan, 1997; Frey, 1998; Illinois State Board of Education, 1999; Levay, 1998; Louisiana Department of Education, 2000; North Dakota Department of Public Instruction, 1998; Ryan, 2000; University of the State of New York & Office of Vocational and Educational Services for Individuals with Disabilities, 1998; Walsh, 2001). For example, one school district initiated a staff development program for general educators and created an "alignment binder" that provides information about content standards, defines and clarifies accommodations and modifications, provides a matrix chart to assist in instructional decision making and demonstrates how to incorporate all of these components into lesson planning guidelines (Walsh, 2001). In addition, the Western Regional Resource Center developed a website that provides resources on instructional strategies to support access to, and participation in, the general curriculum. This website offers research-validated methods, math and science resources, supports for teachers and examples of school district sites that provide specific information based on the needs of the teachers in that district.

Physical education classes often provide access to the regular educational environment and the literature includes specific information for physical education teachers to effectively include students with disabilities. In recent years, physical education journals have published articles that provide guidance for working with IEP Teams and achieving IEP goals in physical education classes (Block, Leiberman, & Connor-Kuntz, 1998; Houston-Wilson & Lieberman, 1999; Kozub, 1998; Yun et al., 2000). Similar to other guides for regular educators, those for physical education teachers strongly recommend sharing information with special education teachers, understanding how IEP goals can be addressed in the regular curriculum and communicating regularly with all educators and therapists working with the child.

¹ http://interact.uoregon.edu/wrrc/InstStrat.htm



Post-Secondary Transition

Related to transition, the IDEA requires that the IEP includes:

- (I) beginning at age 14, and updated annually, a statement of the transition service needs of the child under the applicable components of the child's IEP that focuses on the child's courses of study (such as participation in advanced-placement courses or a vocational education program);
- (II) beginning at age 16 (or younger, if determined appropriate by the IEP Team), a statement of needed transition services for the child, including when appropriate, a statement of the interagency responsibilities or any needed linkages, and
- (III) beginning at least one year before the child reaches the age of majority under State law, a statement that the child has been informed of his or her rights under this title, if any, that will transfer to the child on reaching the age of majority under section 615(m); and

[20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(1)(A)(vii)].

A goal of the 1997 law is to prepare students with disabilities to participate in and contribute to society. Therefore, transition services must be planned, coordinated and documented in the IEP for each student and be based on the student's needs, taking into account the student's preferences and interests. Transition services include instruction, related services, community experiences, the development of employment and other post-school adult living objectives and when appropriate, acquisition of daily living skills and functional vocational skills. The IEP Team should focus on both the present and future needs of the student to design a functional instructional program that reflects the student's interests and needs for life as an adult. Effective transition services should enable students to manage their future and become active, contributing members of society. Students with disabilities should be included in transition planning and empowered to contribute to decisions about their future.

In the 21st Annual Report to Congress (U.S. Department of Education, 1999), several themes for implementing transition services were identified that included:

- creating an environment conducive to implementation of transition policies and practices;
- using policy to promote systems change;
- sharing leadership;
- collaborating;
- building capacity;
- linking transition to other restructuring efforts; and
- using research and evaluation results to enhance policy and practice.

Since the 21st Annual Report to Congress, minimal research has been published specific to IEP transition components. However, there is a variety of research focused on access, participation and success in postsecondary education and employment for students with disabilities—outcomes that should be documented on an IEP. The National Center for Secondary Education



and Transition (NCSET) and the National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports (NCSPES) continue to conduct research, analyze policy and share information to strengthen all aspects of transition for students with disabilities. An ongoing study, the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS-2), is surveying more than 11,000 students with disabilities served under IDEA to describe their characteristics, achievements and experiences. NLTS-2 will also identify factors that contribute to positive outcomes for these students (NCSET, 2002, January). This study will focus on high school coursework and placement, academic performance, extracurricular activities, postsecondary education and training, adult services, employment, independent living and community participation. It is anticipated that this study will provide information to direct policy and practices, just as the original National Longitudinal Transition Study (1984-1993) did prior to the reauthorization of IDEA in 1997.

Research reported in the 23rd Annual Report to Congress (U.S. Department of Education, 2001) indicated that states have not achieved minimal compliance with transition components of the IEP because the appropriate participants are not at IEP meetings to discuss transition services, participants are not provided adequate notice of the meetings and the IEP Team does not include a statement of needed transition services on students' IEPs (Hasazi, Furney, & DeStefano, 1999; Johnson & Sharpe, 2000). Since states are not yet fully compliant with transition components, a chapter discussing challenges in providing transition services and strategies to address challenges was included in the 23rd Annual Report to Congress (U.S. Department of Education, 2001, p. I-19). This chapter highlighted the following: the necessity of ensuring that students with disabilities have access to the full range of general education curricular options and learning experiences; making data-based decisions using meaningful indicators of students' learning and services to ensure that students with disabilities have access to employment, postsecondary education and independent living opportunities; and supporting student and family participation in planning for transition services.

Special Considerations

The IDEA is designed to ensure that a student's individual needs—identified through an evaluation process and with input from the student's parents—are addressed to allow the student to participate in the general curriculum and general classroom to the maximum extent possible. As noted on page 3 of this document, the law includes the following special factors the IEP Team must consider when developing a student's IEP to ensure educational services are tailored to the student:

- behavior strategies and supports if a student's behavior impedes his or her learning or learning of others;
- the student's language needs (as they relate to the IEP) if a student has limited English proficiency;
- provision for instruction in Braille and the use of Braille as appropriate if a student is blind or visually impaired;
- provision for communication needs if a student is deaf or hard of hearing; and
- determination of assistive technology devices and services needed by a student [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(3)(B)].



Behavior

The law includes concepts important to the education of children with disabilities whose behaviors violate school codes of conduct and/or are outside the norms of socially acceptable behavior. If a student's behavior impedes his learning or that of others, the IEP Team must consider strategies, including positive behavioral interventions, strategies and supports to address that behavior [20 U.S.C. §1414(d)(3)(B)(i)].

The OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports² (PBIS) indicated that PBIS is a recommended form of intervention for addressing challenging behaviors of students with disabilities. This center is providing capacity building information and technical assistance to schools to effectively and successfully address challenging behaviors within the schools through research-validated practices. One component of positive behavioral intervention and support is a functional behavioral assessment (FBA). The FBA is a strategy to analyze inappropriate behavior to determine its function or purpose and devise interventions to teach acceptable alternative behaviors (Clark, 1999). Research prior to 1997 provided evidence that FBA is an effective approach to plan intervention and reduce problem behaviors for students with developmental disabilities (Drasgow, Yell, & Robinson, 1999). However, researchers caution that there is limited research regarding the use of FBA with students with mild disabilities or emotional disorders in general education classrooms and everyday settings (Drasgow, Yell, & Robinson, 1999).

The law identifies when a school should conduct a functional behavioral assessment and develop a behavioral intervention plan, but does not explain how to do them. As a result, many "how-to" guides have emerged in the literature on functional behavioral assessment since 1997. These guides are provided as written documents (e.g., Deveres, 1999; Educational Resources Information Center, 1998; Gable, Quinn, Rutherford, Howell, & Hoffman, 1998 & 2000; Heil, 1998; Levay & Tilly, 1998; Fad, Patton, & Polloway, 2000; McConnell, Cox, Thomas, & Hilvitz, 2001; Sugai et.al., 2000; Tilly, Knoster, Kovaleski, Bambara, Dunlap, & Kincaid, 1998). as well as videocassettes and teleconferences (e.g., Gable & Quinn, 1998-99; Hakela, 1998; McLaughlin, 2000-01). Computer programs to assist educators through the functional behavioral assessment are also available. In addition, a national center committed to improving services for students with emotional and behavioral problems, the Center for Effective Collaborative Practice³ (CECP), developed and distributed information about collaboration and effective practices, including information about functional behavioral assessment and positive behavioral interventions. The OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports recently released two brochures on incorporating Positive Behavioral Supports into the Individualized Education Plan-one for educators (Riffell & Turnbull, 2002a) and one for parents (Riffell & Turnbull, 2002b). However, there is no empirical research related to the use of functional behavioral assessment and behavioral intervention plans in regard to the IEP.

While many researchers support the use of functional behavioral assessment and behavior intervention plans to meet requirements in the law, they express concerns regarding teachers' knowledge about and effective use of these strategies. Specific pre-service courses, ongoing in-

³ http://cecp.air.org



² http://www.pbis.org

service activities, and a new certification area for behavior support specialists are recommended to ensure effectiveness in the use of these strategies (Drasgow, Yell, & Robinson, 1999; Ward, 1998). In addition, researchers recommend that policy makers provide guidance for FBA, define FBA as an integrated set of practices with general parameters rather than specific procedures and integrate its use throughout the special education decision-making process (Tilly et al., 1998).

Limited English Proficiency

No empirical research was found in this literature review regarding limited English proficiency and IEPs. A few guides were available that highlighted cultural diversity issues (Bennett et al., 1998; Fletcher-Carter & Paez, 1997; Quiroz et al., 1999; Zhang & Bennett, 2001), including language differences. There is an increased interest in this population of students and ongoing debate in the field about whether students with limited English proficiency, especially preschoolage students, need or qualify for special education services. This is an important consideration that can affect a student's successful participation in the general curriculum and the regular educational environment. A student's English proficiency must be discussed at the IEP meeting to ensure the student's educational needs are met appropriately.

Visual and Hearing Impairments

A survey of states in early 2000 revealed that 11 states have existing policies, procedures or guidelines to evaluate a student's need for Braille instruction and seven more states were developing these policies, procedures or guidelines (Markowitz, 2000). In addition, some guides for parents include recommendations for designing effective instructional services through the IEP process for specific disability areas such as deaf-blindness, hearing impairment, deafness, visual impairment and autism (Davis, 2001; Duncan, 1997; Fletcher-Carter & Paez, 1997; Frey, 1998; National Organization of Parents of Blind Children, 1998; Todis, Sohlberg, & Glang, 1999). There is increasing information for the education of students with visual and hearing impairments, but additional research is needed to support these efforts.

Assistive Technology

Surveys regarding teachers' use of assistive technology revealed that teachers in one state typically received 24 hours of training in the use of assistive technology and approximately 75 percent of special education teachers use it in their classrooms (York, 1999). However, in another state, teachers felt inadequately prepared and lacked competency to use assistive technology, and 54.7 percent of teachers never received training in the use of assistive technology (Bauder, 1999). These surveys revealed that teachers require training in the use of assistive technology and prefer direct, hands-on training in addition to support from administration and collaboration with other team members to effectively use assistive technology in their classrooms.

Several states have developed information guides about assistive technology for families and educators that identify the legal requirements for consideration of assistive technology, discuss the role of assistive technology in education and describe specific types of assistive technology (Blair, et al., 1999; Golden, 1998; Lee, 1998; North Dakota Department of Public Instruction,



1999; Oestman, Oswald, & Noha, 1997; Watts & Shahan, 1997). A few other guides discuss integrating assistive technology into the general curriculum (Warger, 1998), share guidelines for using assistive technology (Adams, 1999; Daly, 2001) and describe assistive technology services (Margolis & Goodman, 1999). Additional research is needed to examine the use of assistive technology to implement the IEP.

Summary

The 1997 amendments to the IDEA incorporated some vital changes into the IEP components of the law to enhance opportunities for students with disabilities to gain increased access to the general curriculum and participate more in the regular educational environment. The significant changes that address more specific individual needs and increased involvement of parents in education strengthen the view of students with disabilities as able, competent individuals who are integral contributing members of society.

There has been scattered and limited research about the IEP since the IDEA was reauthorized in 1997 and the final regulations released in 1999. Since the movement for higher standards and increased accountability began before IDEA reauthorization, more research was evident in assessment/accountability and accommodations. The literature reviewed for this document included mostly informational guides and "how-to" manuals and articles to support the understanding and implementation of the new law and regulations.

A number of federally-funded projects and research centers are currently conducting research related to the IEP: the National Center for Access to the General Curriculum (NCAC);4 the National Center for Educational Outcomes (NCEO);⁵ the National Center for Secondary Education and Transition (NCSET);6 the National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports; and the OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS).8 In addition, there are OSEP-sponsored longitudinal studies: the Special Education Elementary Longitudinal Study (SEELS); the National Early Intervention Longitudinal Study (NEILS);¹⁰ the Pre-Elementary Education Longitudinal Study (PEELS);¹¹ the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2);¹² and the Study of State and Local Implementation and Impact of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (SLIIDEA).¹³ OSEP continues to support research efforts that identify promising practices related to the IEP process to strengthen effective teaching and learning, and improve outcomes for students with disabilities.

¹³ http://www.abt.sliidea.org



⁴ http://www.cast.org/ncac

⁵ http://www.coled.umn.edu/nceo

⁶ http://ici.umn.edu/ncset

⁷ http://www.rrtc.hawaii.edu

⁸ http://www.pbis.org

⁹ http://www.seels.net

¹⁰ http://www.sri.com/neils

¹¹ http://www.sri.com/peels

¹² http://www.sri.com/nlts2

Suggestions for Future Research

Research is critical to assess both the implementation and impact of IDEA and NCLB as it relates to students with disabilities. This literature review suggests research is needed in the following areas:

- the decision-making process for all components of the IEP and how the required components of the IEP document influence the decision-making process;
- the effect of professional development on the decision-making process in IEP development and on educational services and outcomes for students with disabilities;
- the effect of parent involvement on educational services and outcomes for students with disabilities;
- the effect of accommodations on test validity and score comparability;
- the effect of accommodations on test scores:
- instructional accommodations in addition to assessment accommodations;
- the effect of general educators' involvement in IEP development on educational services and outcomes for students with disabilities;
- the effectiveness of both documenting and implementing transition services on the IEP:
- the effectiveness of functional behavioral assessments and positive behavioral interventions in decreasing disruptive behaviors that impede the learning of students with disabilities and others; and
- the effectiveness of supports and accommodations documented on the IEP for special factors such as limited English proficiency, Braille instruction, communication needs for deaf or hard of hearing students and the use of assistive technology in supporting the educational needs of students with disabilities and providing appropriate opportunities for learning and participating in the general curriculum and general education classroom.



References

- Altemueller, L.M. (2001). A comparison of parent and teacher perceptions of parent involvement in the individualized education program process in special education. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Northern Colorado, 2001). Dissertation Abstracts International, 62, 09a, 3011.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association & ASPIIRE IDEA Partnership Project. (2000). Developing Educationally Relevant IEPs: A Technical Assistance Document for Speech-Language Pathologists. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Bateman, B., Kinney, T. & Schultz, J. (2000). *IEP Successes*. [Videocassette]. Verona, WI: IEP Resources Attainment Co.
- Bateman, B. & Linden, M. (1998). Better IEP: How to develop legally correct and educationally useful programs. 3rd edition. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Bauder, D.K. (1999). The use of assistive technology and the assistive technology training needs of special education teachers in Kentucky schools (Doctoral dissertation, University of Kentucky, 1999). Dissertation Abstracts International, 60 (12A), 4378.
- Bennet, T., Hojnar, L., & Zhang, C. (1998). Facilitating the full participation of culturally diverse families in the IFSP/IEP process. *Infant-Toddler Intervention: The Transdisciplinary Journal*, 8 (3), 227-49.
- Bielinski, J., Thurlow, M., Ysseldyke, J., Freidebach, J., & Friedebach, M. (2001). Read-aloud accommodation: Effects on multiple-choice reading and math items (Technical Report 31). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Blair, M., Post, H., Hammond, M., John, S., Kelker, K., & Holt, R. (1999). Family Guide to Assistive Technology. Logan, UT: Utah Assistive Technology Program.
- Block, M.E., Lieberman, L.J. & Connor-Kuntz, F. (1998). Authentic assessment in adapted physical education. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance, 69* (3), 48-55.
- Blumberg Center for Interdisciplinary Studies in Special Education, Indiana State University & South Dakota Department of Education and Cultural Affairs. (2000). Valuing Parents in the IEP Process: Making Decision About What and Where Students Learn. [Videocassette]. United States: Blumberg Center for Interdisciplinary Studies in Special Education, Indiana State University & South Dakota Department of Education and Cultural Affairs.
- Boundy, K.B. (2000). New regulations implementing the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments—An Overview. (Part 2). Clearinghouse Review, 34, 1-2.



- Bugaj, S. (2000). Avoiding the pitfalls of failing to implement an IEP: Tips for secondary school principals and guidance counselors. *NASSP Bulletin*, 84 (613), 41-46.
- Burk, M. (1998, October). Computerized test accommodations: A new approach for inclusion and success for students with disabilities. Washington, DC: A.U. Software, Inc.
- Burns, E. (2001). Developing and Implementing IDEA IEPs: An Individualized Education Program Handbook for Meeting Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Requirements. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publishers.
- Burns, E. (1998). Test accommodations for students with disabilities. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas Publisher.
- Butera, G., Klein, H., & McMullen, L. (1998). A statewide study of FAPE and school discipline policies. *Journal of Special Education*, 32 (2), 108-14.
- Calhoon, M.B., Fuchs, L.S. & Hamlett, C.L. (2000). Effects of computer-based test accommodations on mathematics performance assessments for secondary students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 23, 271-282.
- Chambers, A.C. (1997). Has Technology Been Considered? A Guide for IEP Teams. CASE/TAM Assistive Technology Policy and Practice Series. Reston, VA: Council of Administrators of Special Education, Council for Exceptional Children.
- Clark, S. (2000). The IEP process as a tool for collaboration. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 33 (2), 56-66.
- Clark, S. (1999). The principal, discipline, and the IDEA. NASSP Bulletin, 83 (610), 1-7.
- Cohen, M. & Heumann, J. (2001). Clarification of the Role of the IEP Team in Selecting Individual Accommodations, Modifications in Administration, and Alternate Assessments for State and District-Wide Assessments of Student Achievement. Memorandum. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Conderman, G. & Nelson, N. (1999). A better IDEA for parents, students, and educators. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 35 (4), 170-72.
- Daly, T. (2001). Enabling Technologies: Guidelines for the Use of Assistive Technology in Education. Cork, Ireland: Bradshaw Books.
- Davis, J. (2001). Our Forgotten Children: Hard of Hearing Pupils in the Schools. Bethesda, MD: SHHH Publications.
- Davis, P., & Bates, P. (1997). Transition-related IEP objectives: Ensuring their functionality, technical adequacy, and generality. *Exceptionality*, 7 (1), 71-75.



- DeFur, S. (2000). Designing Individualized Education Program (IEP) Transition Plans. Eric Digest E598. Arlington, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- DeStefano, L., Shriner, J., & Lloyd, C. (2001). Teaching decision making in participation of students with disabilities in large-scale assessment. *Exceptional Children*, 68 (1), 7-22.
- Deveres, L. (1999). A Primer on Functional Behavioral Assessment. Horsham, PA: LRP Publications.
- Donelson, M.D. (1999). An analysis of the individualized education programs for students with deafblindness. (Doctoral dissertation, Texas Tech University, 1999). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60, 04A, 1078.
- Dowling-Sendor, B. (2000). How far should an IEP go? American School Board Journal, 187 (12), 16-17.
- Drasgow, E., & Yell, M. (2001). Functional behavioral assessments: Legal requirements and challenges. *The School Psychology Review*, 30(2), 239-51.
- Drasgow, E., Yell, M., & Bradley, R. (1999). The IDEA Amendments of 1997: A school-wide model for conducting functional behavioral assessments and developing behavior intervention plans. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 22 (3), 244-66.
- Drasgow, E., Yell, M., & Robinson, T. (2001). Developing legally correct and educationally appropriate IEPs. *Remedial and Special Education*, 22 (6), 359-73.
- Duncan, G. (1997). But What About My Deaf Child? A Guide to Special Education in Pennsylvania for Parents of Children Who are Deaf or Hard of Hearing. York, PA: Parent Education Network.
- Dunn, J.M. (1997). Special Physical Education, 7th Edition. Madison, WI: Brown & Benchmark.
- Elliot, S., Kratchowill, T. & McKevitt, B. (2001). Experimental analysis of the effects of testing accommodations on the scores of students with and without disabilities. *Journal of School Psychology*, 39(1), 3-24.
- Espin, C.A., Deno, S. & Albayark-Kaymak, D. (1998). Individualized Education Programs in resource and inclusive settings: How individualized are they? *Journal of Special Education*, 32 (3), 164-74.
- Fad, K., Patton, J., & Polloway, E. (2000). Behavior Intervention Planning: Completing a Functional Behavioral Assessment and Developing a Behavioral Intervention Plan. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.



- Families and Advocates Partnership for Education. (2001). Planning Your Child's Individualized Education Program (IEP): Some Suggestions to Consider. Minneapolis, MN: PACER Center.
- Fielding, M. (1998). Writing an individual education plan for a child who has behavioral difficulties. *Child Education*, 75, 48-49.
- Fletcher-Carter, R. & Paez, D. (1997). Exploring Students' Personal Cultures: A Tool for Use in IEP Development. New Standards Monograph of Collected Papers from the Annual Conference of the Association of College Educators-Deaf and Hard of Hearing. NM: Santa Fe.
- Forgan, J. & Weber, R. (2001). Software for Learning, part three: Linking software evaluation to the IEP. *The Exceptional Parent*, 31 (8), 101-106.
- Fouse, B. (1999). Creating a "Win-Win" IEP for Students with Autism: A How-To Manual for Parents and Educators. Second Edition. Arlington, TX: Future Horizons, Inc.
- Frey, M. (1998). Considerations in IEP Development for Children Who are Deaflblind. Harrisburg, PA: PA State Department of Education. Retrieved June 29, 2002 from http://www.cisc.k12.pa.us/CISC.pgs/State/DB/Infoshe1.htm
- Fuchs, L.S., Fuchs, D., Eaton, S.B., Hamlett, C., Binkley, E. & Croch, R. (2000). Using objective data source to enhance teacher judgements about test accommodations. *Exceptional Children*, 67, 67-81.
- Fuchs, L.S., Fuchs, D., Eaton, S.B., Hamlett, C. & Karns, K. (2000). Supplementing teacher judgements of test accommodations with objective data sources. *School Psychology Review*, 29, 65-85.
- Fuchs, L.S., Fuchs, D., Karns, K., Hamlett, C., Katzaroff, M. & Dutka, S. (1998). Comparisons among individual and cooperative performance assessments and other measures of mathematics competence. *Elementary School Journal*, 98, 23-20.
- Gable, R. & Quinn, M. (1998-1999). Addressing Student Problem Behavior: Part 1 & 2—An Introduction to Functional Behavioral Assessment. [Videocassettes]. Norfolk, VA: Old Dominion University Academic Television Services.
- Gable, R., Quinn, M.M., Rutherford, R.B., Howell, K.W., Hoffman, C.C. (1998). Addresing Student Problem Behavior. Part II- Conducting a Functional Behavioral Analysis.

 Retrieved November, 26, 2002 from http://ceep.air.org/fba/problembehavior2/main2.htm
- Gable, R., Quinn, M.M., Rutherford, R.B., Howell, K.W., Hoffman, C.C. (2000). Addresing Student Problem Behavior. Part III- Creating Positive Behavioral Intervention Plans and Supports. Retrieved November, 26, 2002 from http://cecp.air.org/fba/problembehavior3/main3.htm



- Gelzheiser, L.M., McLane, M., Meyers, J., & Pruzek, R.M. (1998). IEP-specified peer interaction needs: Accurate but ignored. *Exceptional Children*, 65(1), 51-65.
- Golden, D. (1998). Assistive Technology in Special Education: Policy and practice. Albuquerque, NM: Council of Administrators of Special Education.
- Hakela, S. (1998). *IEP's and Behavior Management*. [Videocassette]. Landover, MD: C.H.A.D.D., Inc.
- Hasazi, S., Furny, K. & DeStefano, L. (1999). Implementing the IDEA transition mandates. *Exceptional Children*, 65, 555-566.
- Helwig, R. Tedescor, M., Heath, B., Tindal, G. & Almond, P. (1999). Reading as an access to mathematical problem solving on multiple choice tests for sixth grade students. *Journal of Educational Research and Extension*, 93 (part 2), 113-126.
- Hitchcock, C. G., (2001). Balanced Instructional Support and Challenge in Universally Designed Learning Environments, *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 16(4), 23-30.
- Hitchcock, C., Meyer, A., Rose, D., & Jackson, R. (2002) Access, Participation, and Progress in the General Curriculum: Technical Brief. Peabody, MA: Center for Applied Special Technology, Inc. Retrieved July 8, 2002 from http://www.cast.org/ncac
- Hollenbeck, K., Tindal, G., & Almond. (1998). Teacher's knowledge of accommodations as a validity issue in high-stakes testing. *The Journal of Special Education*, 32(3), 175-183.
- Hollenbeck, K., Tindal, G., Harniss, M. & Almond, P. (1999). The Effect of Using Computers as an Accommodation in a Statewide Writing Test. Eugene, OR: University of Oregon, BRT.
- Hollis, J. (1998). Conducting Individualized Education Program Meetings that Withstand Due Process: The Informal Evidentiary Proceeding. Springfield, IL: CC Thomas.
- Horn, E., Lieber, J, Sandall, S., Schwartz, I. & Li, S. (2000). Supporting young children's IEP goals in inclusive settings through embedded learning opportunities. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 20 (4), 208-23.
- Horn, R., & Bertktold, J. (1999). Students with Disabilities in Postsecondary Education: A profile of preparation, participation, and outcomes. National Center on Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, Statistical Analysis Report No. 199-187. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Houston-Wilson, C. & Lieberman, L. (1999). The individualized education program in physical education: a guide for regular educators. *Journal of physical education, recreation, and dance, 70* (3), 60.

- Huefner, D. (2000). The risks and opportunities of the IEP requirements under IDEA '97. Journal of Special Education, 33 (4), 195-204.
- IDEA Partnerships. (2000). Discover IDEA CD 2000. Eugene, OR: Western Regional Resource Center.
- Illinois State Board of Education. (1999). Recommended Child Review and Individualized Education Program Forms and Instructions. Springfield, IL: Illinois State Board of Education.
- Iowa Department of Education. (1998). Their Future...Our Guidance: Iowa IEP Guidebook. (1998). Des Moines, IA: author.
- Jackson, R., Harper, K., & Jackson, J. (2001). Effective teaching practices and the barriers limiting their use in accessing the curriculum: A review of recent literature. Peabody, MA: Center for Applied Special Technology, Inc. Retrieved July 8, 2002 from http://www.cast.org/ncac/EffectiveTeachingPractices1942.cfm
- Jackson, R., Koziol, K., & Rudowitz, L. (2001). A glimpse at current teaching practices with preliminary survey results. Peabody, MA: Center for Applied Special Technology, Inc. Retrieved July 8, 2002 from http://www.cast.org/ncac/CurrentTeachingPractices1940.cfm
- Johnson, D., & Sharpe, M. (2000). Results of a national survey on the implementation of transition service requirements of IDEA. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 13, 15-26.
- Jones, M. (2002). Providing a quality accommodated experience in preparation for and during Post-Secondary School. *Information Brief*, 1(1). Retrieved July 2, 2002 from http://ici.umn.edu/ncset/publications/info/mar02.html
- Kansas State Department of Education. (1998). Assistive Technology and the Individualized Education Program. Topeka, KS: Kansas State Department of Education.
- Koretz, D. (1997). The assessment of students with disabilities in Kentucky (CSE Technical Report No. 431). Los Angeles, CA: Center for Research on Standards and Student Testing.
- Kozub, F. (1998). Recent amendments to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Journal of Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance, 69 (8), 47-50.
- Kroeger, S., Leibold, C., & Ryan, B. (1999). Creating a sense of ownership in the IEP process. Teaching Exceptional Children, 32 (1), 4-9.



- Kupper, L. (2000). A Guide to the Individualized Education Program. Washington, DC: Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services.
- Lake, S. (2000). *IEP Procedural Errors: Lessons Learned, Mistakes to Avoid*. Horsham, PA: LRP Publications.
- Lee, J. (1998). *Technology for All: A Guide to Solving the Puzzle*. Cavalier, ND: Interagency Program for Assistive Technology.
- Levay, R. (1998). Sample Individualized Education Program and Guidance Document. Albany, NY: State Education Department and the University of New York.
- Levay, R. & Tilly, D. (1998). Guidance on Functional Behavioral Assessments for Students with Disabilities. Albany, NY: State Education Department & The University of the State of New York.
- Liaupsin, C., Scott, T., & Nelson, C. (2001). Behavior Intervention Planning Using the Functional Behavior Assessment Data. [Computer disk]. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Lignurgaris-Kraft, B., Marchand-Martella, N., & Martella, R. (2001). Strategies for writing better goals and short-term objectives or benchmarks. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 34(1), 52-58.
- Louisiana Department of Education. (2000). Louisiana's IEP handbook for students with Disabilities. Baton Rouge, LA: Department of Education.
- Lyle, M. (1998). The LD Teacher's IEP Companion: Goals, Strategies, and Activities for LD Students. East Moline, IL: LinguiSystems, Inc.
- Lytle, R. & Bordin, J. (2001). Enhancing the IEP Team: Strategies for parents and professionals. Teaching Exceptional Children, 33 (5), 40-44.
- Margolis, L. & Goodman, S. (1999). Assistive Technology Services for Students—What are *These?* Washington, DC: United Cerebral Palsy Association's Assistive Technology Funding and Systems Change Project (ATFSCP).
- Markowitz, J. (2000). Braille instruction. *Project FORUM Quick Turn Around*. Alexandria, VA: National Association of State Directors of Special Education.
- Marquart, A. (2000). The Use of Extended Time as an Accommodation on a Standardized Mathematics Test: An Investigation of Effects on Scores and Perceived Consequents for Students of Various Skill Levels. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Chief State School Officers, Snowbird, UT.
- Martin, J., Marshall, Maxson, L. & Jerman, P. (1997). Self-Directed IEP. Second Edition. Choicemaker Instructional Series. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.



- Maryland Transition Initiative. (1999). Transition Planning and Anticipated Services in the Individualized Education Program (IEP) process: An Information Guide for Students, Families, and Professionals. Baltimore, MD: Maryland State Department of Education.
- McAlanon, S. & Longo, P. (1996). A Maze to Amaze: Transition Planning for Youth with Disabilities: A Video and Manual for Constructing a Transition IEP Planning Meeting. Fort Collins, CO: Office of Instructional Services.
- McConnell, M., Cox, C., Thomas, D., & Hilvitz, P. (2001). Functional Behavioral Assessment. Denver, CO: Love Publishing Co.
- McLaughlin, P. (2000-2001). Reaching the Tough To Teach. [Videocassettes]. Athens, GA: Interactive Teaching Network.
- Meloy, L.L., Deville, C., & Frisbie, C. (2000). The Effect of a Reading Accommodation on Standardized Test Scores of Learning Disabled and Non-Learning Disabled Students. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Council on Measurement in Education, New Orleans, LA.
- Menlove, R., Hudson, P., & Suter, D. (2001). A field of IEP dreams: Increasing general education teacher participation in the IEP development process. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 33 (5), 28-33.
- Miles-Bonart, S.S.L. (2001). Examination of four variables and parent perceived satisfaction with the individualized education program meeting. (Doctoral dissertation, New Mexico State University, 2001). Dissertation Abstracts International, 62, 03A, 975.
- Miller, S. (1998). The relationship between language simplification of math word problems and performance for students with disabilities. Unpublished master's project, University of Oregon, Eugene, OR.
- Miner, C. & Bates, P. (1997). The effect of person centered planning activities on the IEP/Transition planning process. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities*, 32 (2), 105-12.
- Minow, M. (2001). Update on Implementation of IDEA: Early Returns from State Studies.

 Peabody, MA: Center for Applied Special Technology, Inc. Retrieved July 8, 2002 from http://www.cast.org/ncac/upateonImplementationofIDEA2080.cfm
- Muhlenhaupt, M. (2002). Family and school partnerships for IEP development. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 96 (3), 175-78.
- National Association of State Directors of Special Education. (1997). Comparison of Key Issues: Previous Law and P.L. 105-17 (1997 IDEA Amendments). Alexandria, VA: NASDSE.



- National Association of State Directors of Special Education. (1999a). Linkage of the IEP to the general education curriculum. *Project Forum Quick Turn Around (QTA)*. Alexandria, VA: Project FORUM at NASDSE.
- National Association of State Directors of Special Education. (1999b). Synthesis Brief--Test Changes: An Empirical Basis for Defining Accommodations. Alexandria, VA: Project FORUM at NASDSE.
- National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports. (2000a). Technical report:

 Postsecondary Education and Employment for Students with Disabilities: Focus Group
 Discussions on Supports and Barriers to Lifelong Learning. Honolulu, HI: University of
 Hawaii at Manoa, National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports.
- National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports. (2000b). Technical report:

 National Survey of Educational Support Provision to Students with Disabilities in

 Postsecondary Education Settings. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii at Manoa,

 National Center for the Study of Postsecondary Educational Supports.
- National Center for Secondary Education and Transition. (2002, June). 1997 IDEA: Implications for secondary education and transition services. *Policy Update, 1*(1). Minneapolis, MN: Institute on Community Integration.
- National Center for Secondary Education and Transition. (2002, January). *National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 Data Brief*, 1(1). Minneapolis, MN: Institute on Community Integration.
- National Information Center for Children and Youth with Disabilities. (1999). *Individualized Education Programs*. Washington, DC: NICHCY.
- National Organization of Parents of Blind Children. (1998). Avoiding an IEP Disaster. [Six videotapes]. Baltimore, MD: National Organization of Parents of Blind Children.
- Nelson, J.R., Roberts, M., Mathur, S., & Rutherford, M. (1999). Has public policy exceeded our knowledge base? A review of the functional behavioral assessment literature. *Behavioral Disorders*, 24, 169-179.
- Nevada Department of Education. (1999). Positive Behavior Supports: A Guide for Teachers. Carson City, NV: Author.
- North Dakota Department of Public Instruction. (1999a). Assistive Technology for Students with Disabilities: Information for Parents and Educators. Bismarck, ND: Department of Public Instruction.
- North Dakota Department of Public Instruction. (1999b). Guidelines: Individualized Education Program Planning Process. Bismarck, ND: Department of Public Instruction.



- North Dakota Division of Special Education. (1998). *Individualized Education Programs: Tools for Success in Education and Beyond*. [Videocassette]. Bismarck, ND: Department of Public Instruction, Office of Special Education.
- North Dakota Division of Special Education. (1999). Special Education in North Dakota: Guidelines—Assistive Technology for Students with Disabilities. Bismarck, ND: Department of Public Instruction, Office of Special Education.
- Oestmann, A., Oswald, L., & Noha, N. (1997). Assistive Technology in Special Education Technical Assistance Document: A Report of the Special Education Advisory Council. Lincoln, NE: Nebraska Department of Education.
- Office of Special Education Programs. (2000). A Guide to the Individualized Education Program. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services.
- Office of Special Education Programs. (1999a). Provisions of Special Interest to Administrators. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. Retrieved June 12, 2002 from http://www.ideapractices.org/law/briefs/administrators.php
- Office of Special Education Programs. (1999b). *Provisions of Special Interest to Parents*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. Retrieved June 12, 2002 from http://www.ideapractices.org/law/briefs/parents.php
- Office of Special Education Programs. (1999c). Provisions of Special Interest to Teachers. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. Retrieved June 12, 2002 from http://www.ideapractices.org/law/briefs/teachers.php
- Office of Special Education Programs. (1999d). Regular Education Teachers as IEP Team Members. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. Retrieved June 4, 2002 from http://www.ed.gov/offices/OSERS/Policy/IDEA/brief3.html
- Ohio Department of Education. (1999). Ideas for Transition: Planning for Transition Services during the IEP Process, ages 14 through 21. Columbus, OH: Ohio State Department of Education, Division of Special Education.
- Ordover, E., Annexstein, L., Johnson, D., Mack, M., Willems, G., & Park, R. (1999). Ensuring Access, Equity, and Quality for Students with Disabilities in School-to-Work Systems: A Guide to Federal Law and Policies. Washington, DC: Center for Law and Education.
- PACER Center. (2000). A Guide for Minnesota Parents to the Individualized Education Program (IEP). Fourth Edition. Minneapolis, MN: Author.



- Parette, H. & Murdick, N.(1998). Assistive technology and IEPS for young children with disabilities. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 25 (3), 193-98.
- Peterson, R.S. (1998). Question redistribution as a reading accommodation in statewide assessments. Unpublished master's project, University of Oregon, Eugene, OR.
- Piastro, D.B. (2000). Participation of special education students in the Individualized Education Program. (Master's thesis, California State University, 2000). *Masters Thesis Abstract International*, 39, 03, 643.
- Pretti-Fontczak, K. & Bricker, D. (2000). Enhancing the quality of Individualized Education Plan (IEP) goals and objectives. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 23 (2), 92-105.
- Quinn, M, Gable, R., Rutherford, R., Nelson, C. & Howell, K. (1998). Addressing Student Problem Behavior: An IEP Team's Introduction to Functional Behavioral Assessment and Behavior Intervention Plans. Second Edition. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, Center for Effective Collaboration and Practice. Retrieved June 24, 2002 from http://air.org/cecp/resources/problembehavior/main.htm
- Quiroz, B., Greenfield, P.M, & Alchech, M. (1999). Bridging cultures with parent teacher conferences. *Educational Leadership*, 56, 68-70.
- Riffel, L.A. & Turnbull, A.P. (2002a). Tips for Educators: Incorporating Positive Behavioral Supports into the Individualized Education Plan. OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. Retrieved November 26, 2002 from www.pbis.org/files/educatoriep.doc.
- Riffel, L.A. & Turnbull, A.P. (2002b). Tips for Parents: Incorporating Positive Behavioral Supports into the Individualized Education Plan. OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. Retrieved November 26, 2002 from www.pbis.org/files/parentiep.doc.
- Rock, M. (2000). Parents as equal partners: Balancing the scales in IEP development. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 32 (6), 30-37.
- Roessler, R., Shearing, A. & Williams, E. (2000). Three recommendations to improve transition planning in the IEP. *Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education*, 22 (2), 31-36.
- Rose, D. H. & Meyer, A. (2002) Teaching Every Student in the Digital Age: Universal Design for Learning. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Ruppert, E. (1998). The role of the pediatrician in the IEP or IFSP. *The Exceptional Parent*, 28(7), 72.



- Russell, M. (1999). Test writing on computers: A follow-up study comparing performance on computer and on paper. *Educational Policy Analysis Archives*, 7.
- Russell, M. & Plati, T. (2001). Effects of computer versus paper administration of a state-mandated writing assessment. *TCRecord.org*. Retrieved June 27, 2002 from http://www.tcrecord.org/PrintContent.asp?Content ID=10709
- Ryan, L. (2000). Individualized Education Program Guidebook: Directions for Completing the IEP Form. Providence, Rhode Island: Department of Education.
- Salembier, G. & Furney, K. (1997). Facilitating participation: Parents' perceptions of their involvement in the IEP/Transition planning process. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 20(1), 29-42.
- Schiller, E., Glantz, F., Price, C., Rollefson, M., St. Pierre, R., & Fiore, T. (2001). *Policy Brief: Using Implementation Data to Study State, District, and School Impacts*. Bethesda, MD:

 Abt associates.
- School, B. & Cooper, A. (1999). The IEP Primer and the Individualized Program: Preschool through Postsecondary Transition, Fifth Edition. Novato, CA: Academic Therapy Publications.
- Schrag, J. & Ahearn, E. (1998). Summary of Changes Related to the Individualized Education Program (IEP) Current Law and 1997 Amendments, Including Congressional Committee Comments. Alexandria, VA: NASDSE.
- Schulte, A.G., Elliot, S.N., & Kratchowill, T.K. (2000). Educators' perceptions and documentation of testing accommodations for students with disabilities. *Special Services in the Schools*, 16, 35-56.
- Siegel, L. (2001). The Complete IEP Guide: How to Advocate for Your Special Ed Child. 2nd Edition. Arlington, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Simpson, R.L., Griswold, D.E., & Myles, B.S. (1999). Educators' assessment accommodation preferences for students with autism. Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 14 (4), 212-219.
- Smith, S. (2001). *Involving Parents in the IEP Process: Eric Digest E611*. Arlington, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- Snyder, P. E. (2000). Examining the effects of teaching ninth grade students receiving special education learning support services to conduct their own IEP meetings. (Doctoral dissertation, Lehigh University, 2000). Dissertation Abstracts International, 61, 07A, 2598.



- Sopris West. (1998). *IEP Connections*. [Videocassette]. Longmont, CO: Sopris West Inc. & National Association of State Directors of Special Education.
- Storms, J., O'Leary, E., & Williams, J. (2000). Transition requirements: A guide for states, districts, schools, universities, and families. Minneapolis, MN: Institute on Community Integration, University of Minnesota.
- Sugai, G., Horner, R.H., Dunlap, G., Hieneman, M., Lewis, T., Nelson, C.M., Scott, T., Liaupsin, C., Turnbull, A., Turnbull, R., Wickham, D., Ruef, M., Sailor, W., Wilcox, B. (2000). Applying Positive Behavioral Support and Functional Behavioral Analysis in Schools: Technical Assistance Guide 1. OSEP Technical Assistance Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. Retrieved November 26, 2002 from www.pbis.org/files/TAG1.doc
- Thompson, S.J., Thurlow, M.L. Quenemoen, R.F., Esler, A., & Whetstone, P. (2001).

 Addressing Standards and Assessments on State IEP Forms. Synthesis Report 33.

 Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.

 Retrieved June 24, 2002 from

 http://www.education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/Synthesis38.html
- Thompson, S.J., Thurlow, M.L., & Whetstone, P. (2001). Recommendations for Addressing Standards and Assessments on State and District IEP Forms. NCEO Policy Directions, Number 12. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Thurlow, M. (2002). Accommodations for students with disabilities in high school. *Issue Brief, 1* (1). Retrieved July 2, 2002 from http://ici.umn.edu/ncset/publications/issues/jan02.html
- Thurlow, M. & Bolt, S. (2001). Empirical support for accommodations most often allowed in state policy. (Synthesis Report 41). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved June 24, 2002 from http://www.education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/Synthesis41.html
- Thurlow, M., House, A., Boys, C., Scott, D., & Ysseldyke, J. (2000). State participation and accommodation policies for students with disabilities: 1999 Update. (Synthesis Report 33). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved June 24, 2002 from http://www.education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/Synthesis33.html
- Thurlow, M., McGrew, S., Tindal, G., Thompson, S., Ysseldyke, J., & Elliot, J. (2000).

 Assessment Accommodations Research: Considerations for Design and Analysis.

 (Technical Report 26). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes. Retrieved June 24, 2002 from http://www.education.umn.edu/NCEO/OnlinePubs/Technical26.html



- Tilly, W.D., Knoster, T.P., Kovaleski, J., Bambara, L., Dunlap, G., & Kincaid, D. (1998). Functional Behavioral Assessment: Policy Development in Light of Emerging Research and Practice. Alexandria, VA: National Association of State Directors of Special Education.
- Tindal, G. & Fuchs, L. (1999). A Summary of Research on Testing Accommodations: What We Know So Far. Lexington, KY: Mid-South Regional Resource Center.
- Tindal, G. & Fuchs, L. (2000). A Summary of Research on Test Changes: An Empirical Basis for Defining Accommodations. Lexington, KY: Mid-South Regional Resource Center.
- Tindal, G., Glasgow, A., Helwig, B., Hollenbeck, K. & Heath, B. (1998). Accommodations in large scale tests for students with disabilities: An investigation of reading math tests using video technology. Unpublished manuscript with the Council of Chief State School Offices, Washington, DC.
- Tindal, G., Heath, B., Hollenbeck, K., Almond, P., & Harniss, M. (1998). Accommodating students with disabilities on large scale tests: An experimental study. *Exceptional Children*, 64, 439-450.
- Tindal, G., Hollenbeck, K., Heath, B. & Almond, P. (1998). The effect of using computers as an accommodation in a statewide writing test. Manuscript submitted for publication, University of Oregon.
- Todis, B., Sohlberg, M., & Glang, A. (1999). Making the IEP Process Work for Students with Brain Injuries. Wake Forest, NC: L & A Publishing/Training.
- Tracy, A. & Maroney, D. (2000). Getting the most out of IEP meetings. *The Exceptional Parent*, 30 (6), 70.
- Translating the IEP into Everyday Practice: Training Guides for the Head Start Learning Community. (1998). Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services.
- Trimble, S. (1998). Performance trends and use of accommodations on a statewide assessment (Maryland/Kentucky State Assessment Series Rep. No. 3). Minneapolis, MN: National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Trollinger, G. & Slavkin, R. (1999). Purposeful E-mail as stage 3 technology: IEP goals online. Teaching Exceptional Children, 32 (1), 10-15.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1998). Twentieth annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Washington, DC: Author.



- U.S. Department of Education. (1999). Twenty-first annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2000). Twenty-second annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Washington, DC: Author.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2001). Twenty-third annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Washington, DC: Author.
- University of the State of New York & Office of Vocational and Educational Services for Individuals with Disabilities. (1998). Guidelines for Using the Sample Individualized Education Programs. Albany, NY: University of the State of New York & State Education Department.
- University of Utah, Utah State University, Utah State Offices of Education, Sopris West, Inc. (1999). Functional Assessment and Intervention Program. [Computer disk]. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Wallace, J. (2000). Assistive Technology in the Student's Individualized Education Program: A Handbook for Parents and School Personnel. Richmond, VA: VA Assistive Technology System, Department for Rights of Virginians with Disabilities.
- Walsh, J. (2001). Getting the "Big Picture" of IEP goals and state standards. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 33 (5), 18-26.
- Walz, L., Albus, D., Thompson, S., & Thurlow, M. (2000). Effect of multiple day test accommodation on the performance of special education students (Minnesota Report 34). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota, National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Ward, S.M. (1998). Functional Behavioral Assessment: An evaluation of continuing education variables related to support staff use in school settings (Doctoral Dissertation, Iowa State University, 1998). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 59 (11A), 4060.
- Warger, C. Integrating Assistive Technology into the Standard Curriculum. Reston, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- Warger, C. New IDEA '97 Requirements: Factors to Consider in Developing an IEP. Eric Digest E 578. Reston, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- Watts, M. & Shahan, R. (1997). Assistive Technology: Meeting the Needs of All Our Students. Sheffield, MA: Educational Reform Group.



- Wehman, P. (2001). Life Beyond the Classroom: Transition Strategies for Young People with Disabilities. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Weishaar, M.K. (1997). How Beginning Teachers can Defend IEP Decisions in a Due Process Hearing. Salt Lake City, UT: Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the Council for Exceptional Children.
- Weishaar, M.K. (1997). The regular educator's role in the individualized education plan process. *The Clearing House, 75* (2), 96-98.
- West, L., Corbey, S., Boyer-Stephens, A., Jones, B., Miller, R., Sarkees-Wircenski, M. (1999). Integrating Transition Planning into the IEP Process, Second Edition. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Westin, T. (1999). *The validity of oral presentation in testing*. Montreal, Canada: American Educational Research Association.
- Wormsley, D. (2000). *Braille Literacy Curriculum*. Philadelphia, PA: Towers Press, Overbrook School for the Blind.
- York, M.A. (1999). Assistive technology as viewed by special education teachers in Kansas (Doctoral dissertation, Kansas State University, 1999). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 60 (08A), 2872.
- Ysseldyke, J., Thurlow, M., Kozleski, E., & Reschly, D. (1998). Accountability for the Results of Educating Students with Disabilities: Assessment Conference Report on the Provisions of the 1997 Amendments to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. University of MN: National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Yun, J., Shapiro, D. & Kennedy, J. (2000). Reaching IEP goals in the general physical education class. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance, 71* (8), 33-37.
- Zhang, C. & Bennet, T. (2001). Embracing cultural and linguistic diversity during the IFSP and IEP: Implications from DEC recommended practices in Serving the Underserved: A Review of the Research and Practice in Child Find, Assessment, and the IFSP/IEP Process for Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Young Children. Arlington, VA: ERIC Clearinghouse on Disabilities and Gifted Education.
- Zullo, C., Gibson, J. & Fister, S. (1997). Parents as Partners in the IEP Process. [Videocassette]. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah Parent Center.





U.S. Department of Education



Office of Educational Research and Improvement (OERI)

National Library of Education (NLE)

Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)

NOTICE

Reproduction Basis

This document is covered by a signed "Reproduction Release (Blanket)"
form (on file within the ERIC system), encompassing all or classes of
documents from its source organization and, therefore, does not require a
"Specific Document" Release form.



